"CAROL DAVILA" UNIVERSITY OF MEDICINE AND PHARMACY BUCHAREST DOCTORAL SCHOOL FIELD: MEDICINE

THE NEUROSCIENCES OF THE SPIRITUAL LIFE Summary

PhD supervisor: PROF. UNIV. DR. LEON ZĂGREAN

PhD candidate: Adrian Sorin MIHALACHE

2023

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS AND SYMBOLS

sAA sC sIgA sIL-6 sIL-8 PE SE SRE CSTE	Salivary alpha-amylase Salivary cortisol Salivary immunoglobulin A Salivary interleukin 6 Salivary interleukin 8 Prayer experience Spiritual experience Spiritual / Religious experiences
	Temporo-Parietal Junction
KLM	Loving Kindness Meditation
M	Mindfulness
TM	Transcendental meditation
OM	Open meditation (equivalent for mindfulness)
CN	Cognitive Neurosciences
CS	Cognitive Sciences
CSR	The Cognitive Sciences of Religion
TTE	Testosterone
EG	Experimental Group
CG	Control Group
sO	Salivary oxytocin
РСОТ	Prayer in the Christian-Orthodox Tradition
S/R	Spiritual/Religious
SAI	The state of anxiety inventory
sT	salivary Testosterone
TCI	Temperament and Character Inventory
TEC	The tradition of Eastern Christianity

Table of Contents

In	troduction4
1.	GENERAL FRAMEWORK. THE NEUROSCIENTIFIC APPROACH OF SR/E
	1.1. Historical milestones and significant scientific results in SR/E research
	1.2. The establishment of cognitive sciences and the confirmation of the current working paradigm in NSL
	1.3. S/RE oriented cognitive neuroscience7
	1.4. The neurosciences of spiritual life - areas and working topics8
2.	META-ANALYSES OF THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN S/RE AND HEALTH
3. Pi	PSYCHO-ELECTROPHYSIOLOGICAL EXPLORATIONS OF THE IMPACT OF CHRISTIAN RAYER (CR). THE CURRENT STAGE
	3.1. Christian prayer: difficulties of systematic scientific/medical/empirical approach9
	3.2. Scientific analysis on the RE effects10
	3.3. Intercessory prayer
	3.4. Meta-analyses of studies on the psycho-medical effects of prayer
	3.5. EEG analysis, brain and electrophysiological imaging of Catholic prayer11
4.	GENERAL HYPOTHESIS, WORKING HYPOTHESES AND TESTING THEM12
	4.1. The experimental plan. Independent variable and dependent variables12
	4.2. General hypothesis and working hypotheses12
	4.3. Testing the working hypotheses13
5.	PARTICIPANTS AND GENERAL RESEARCH METHODOLOGY14
	5.1. Research location14
	5.2. Participants14
	5.3. Ethical considerations regarding the present research15
	5.4. Conducting the research and used methods15
	5.6 Research stages, diagram and timeline16
6. Pi	FIRST STUDY: EVALUATION OF POSSIBLE PSYCHOMETRIC CHANGES INDUCED BY THE RACTICE OF PRAYER IN THE ORTHODOX CHRISTIAN TRADITION
	6.1. General aim
	6.2. Preliminary data16
	6.3. Statistical analysis tools17
	6.4. Statistical analysis and interpretation of results. Hamilton Anxiety Scale
	6.5. Statistical analysis and interpretation of results. The COPE test
	6.7. Study limits

7. SECOND STUDY: POSSIBLE ELECTROPHYSIOLOGICAL CHANGES INDUCED BY THE
PRACTICE OF PRAYER IN THE ORTHODOX CHRISTIAN TRADITION
7.1. General objective and working assumptions19
7.2. Participants and Methods20
7.3. Collecting EEG data22
7.4. Primary data22
7.5. Statistical analysis tools22
7.6. Results
7.7. Discussions23
7.8. Limitations of the study24
8. THIRD STUDY: PHYSIOLOGICAL CHANGES INDUCED BY THE PRACTICE OF PRAYER IN THE CHRISTIAN-ORTHODOX TRADITION
8.1. Collection of saliva samples24
8.2. Relevant results25
8.3. Discussions
9. CONCLUSIONS AND PERSONAL CONTRIBUTIONS. THE NEUROSCIENCES OF CULTURE AND HEALTH
9.1. Neuroscientific exploration of S/RE
9.2. Evaluations of the impact of prayer and PCOT on health
9.3. Personal contribution
SELECTIVE BIBLIOGRAPHY
LIST OF SCIENTIFIC WORKS

INTRODUCTION

The overlapping of RSE and the sphere of medical sciences is an extensive topic in the history of medicine, with distinct periods of practice, discoveries, cultural and geographic particularities. Chronologically, we are dealing with several religious traditions and medical practices in the great cultures of the world, in the great civilizations of history, such as Ancient Greece, China, Egypt or the Roman Empire. However, psycho-medical approaches to S/RE have been outlined in a more consistent manner since the 1970s, through the development of neuro and cognitive sciences. In this new context, while also facilitated by non-invasive imaging technologies, various traditional spiritual or religious practices (yoga, zen, various forms of Buddhist meditation, Christian prayer), but also mental practices recently configured by specialist practitioners, have been ever more thoroughly examined, with the intention of offering new therapeutic procedures (this category could include the relaxation response, MBSR – *mindfulness based stress reduction* or compassion meditation).

In recent decades, neuroscientific approaches to S/RE have developed considerably, aiming to examine aspects such as the nature and particularities of S/RE experiences, neuro-localization, physiological imprints and, of course, their therapeutic potential, in various psychiatric, cardiovascular or immune conditions. At the same time, however, important epistemological and/or methodological obstacles were also identified, such as the difficulty of rigorous, precise scientific definition of key terms such as spirituality or religion, establishing the scientific framework for approaching transcendental reality, on which SRE is based, the management of subjective factors, which come into play in the personal experience of S/R nature.

In the General Part of the paper, we review, systematically and succinctly, the discoveries that contributed to shaping the area of neuroscience of spiritual life (NSL), but also an inventory of the most important results, which strengthened the interest of medical sciences in the neurophysiological and psychometric exploration of SRE. A brief inventory of neuroscientific studies that have examined Christian SRE and those oriented toward the evaluation of Christian prayer practice according to the Orthodox tradition (CPPTO) is also included here.

In the special part, dedicated to the personal contribution, we present three studies that focused on two groups (experimental and control), studies that sought to highlight the psychometric and electrophysiological changes induced by CPPTO, after 8 weeks of daily 25 of minutes practice.

1. GENERAL FRAMEWORK. THE NEUROSCIENTIFIC APPROACH OF SR/E

A systematic review of medical approaches to S/R experiences involves several challenges. One of them concerns the difficulty of accurately defining the concepts of spiritual and religious, another would derive from the dynamics of the relationship between medicine and R/S, which have a long history. We find here many stages and events of medical history, from the pre-Christian period and from Byzantium, from the time of the French revolution and from among the later positivist approaches to be significant.

1.1. Historical milestones and significant scientific results in SR/E research

An inventory of the trials that inaugurate the scientific exploration of S/RE succinctly presents contributions signed by pioneering figures such as Hall, James, Starbuck, Leuba and, in the European space, Janet and Flournoy. The positions of authors such as Osler, Coe, Worchester are also mentioned. In the 1950s and the first half of the 1960s, the first scientific studies on altered moods (trance, sleep) appear, which also take into account yoga and Zen spiritual exercises from Japan, Europe, India and the USA (Kasamatsu, Hirai, Das, Ananda) are carried out. The 60s, 70s and 80s record an expansion of scientific concerns, the appearance of working groups that pursue a systematic approach to these topics, including the publication of Journal of Religion and Health and the studies of authors such as Beit-Hallahmi, Moeberg, Frank, Spilka or Bergin, who emphasizes the therapeutic potential of the Christian spiritual life. In the second half of the 60s and in the following two decades, a series of results appeared particularly relevant to the NSL area, regarding the psychophysiological impact of motivation and thinking on health (David McClelland), biofeedback and behavioural psychophysiology (David Shapiro), along with Gary Schwartz's first research into the influence of thoughts on autonomic parameters. Explorations in the 1970s include examining voluntary changes in state of consciousness (Pierre Etevenon), transcendental meditation (Keith Wallace), and the relaxation response (Herbert Benson). Another contribution was provided by the area of psychosomatics, where the impact of emotions and psycho-social content on health was highlighted. Thus, George Engel's contribution regarding the replacement of the classic model of health and care (the bio-medical model) with the bio-psycho-social one was particularly important.

1.2. The establishment of cognitive sciences and the confirmation of the current working paradigm in NSL

The onset of the current configuration of neuroscientific approaches to S/R experiences is closely related to the cognitive revolution. Fields that scientifically investigate the human mind are brought together [7]. In the 70s, when this multidisciplinary appoach starts to be established, the contributions provided by philosophy and computational sciences, linguistics and anthropology, experimental psychology, psycholinguistics and neurosciences are brought into discussion, the main concern being the research of cognition and the use of all the perspectives that these areas of science they can offer for the understanding of the human mind and intelligent behaviours [8]. The contribution of technological advance has also been decisive, providing more precision, more possibilities to measure and analyse brain activity. These are magneto-encephalography (1968 [11], 1990 [12]), computed tomography (made in 1971, first used in a hospital in 1973 [13]), SPECT - single photon emission computed tomography (late 1960s [14]) and positron emission tomography (1973 [15]), transcranial magnetic stimulation (1985 [16]), functional magnetic resonance (1991 [17]), devices that will add to the study of psychological, mental, emotional and behavioural aspects, their morpho-functional, clinical, biological correlates [18].

All these will allow the shaping of cognitive neurosciences (or neuro-cognitive sciences), which currently represent the scientific paradigm that provides the current approach, methodology and tools for brain research, including in the case of S/R experiences. Elements of experimental psychology, neuroimaging study, measurements from the spectrum of molecular neurobiology and descriptors of mental activity are used, which associate specific neural activations with cognitive processes.

The studies carried out in the 80s more clearly outlined the field of NSL. It is related to the explorations seeking to identify some psycho-physiological effects of meditative practices, carried out by Goleman and Davidson, to the study of MBSR - mindfulness based stress reduction (Jon Kabat-Zinn) and Zen (James H. Austin), as well as those related to Michael Persinger's neurolocalization hypothesis, which linked S/R experiences to parietal lobe activity. Some results regarding the neural networks of empathy (Batson), the psychophysiological influence of forgiveness (Enright and Worthington), the polyvagal theory (Proges), the impact of moral emotions on the SNS (Keltner), and the conserved transcriptional response to adversity (Cole) are also mentioned. It is about the explorations to identify some psycho-physiological effects of meditative practices, carried out by Goleman and Davidson, about the study of MBSR - mindfulness based stress reduction (Jon

Kabat-Zinn) and Zen (James H. Austin), as well as those related to Michael Persinger's neurolocalization hypothesis, which linked S/R experiences to parietal lobe activity. Also mentioned are some results regarding the neural networks of empathy (Batson), the psychophysiological influence of forgiveness (Enright and Worthington), the polyvagal theory (Proges), the impact of moral emotions on the SNS (Keltner), and about the conserved transcriptional response to adversity (Cole).

1.3. S/RE oriented cognitive neuroscience

Cognitive neurosciences will provide a generous framework for empirical research and accurate evaluation of S/R experiences, which also imply highly structured cognitions and the integrated activity of complex neural networks. An event organized in 1996¹ and four research papers [20, 21, 22, 23] are considered landmarks that founded the approach of S/R experiences in the manner of cognitive sciences [24], which will later be called *Cognitive Science of Religion* [25].

Certain aspects still remain problematic. (An example is the debate regarding the positions for [26] and against [27] the use of the cognitive sciences of religion to clarify the phrase aimed at *spiritual care*). However, the possibilities for examining S/R experiences offered by the neurocognitive sciences are important. Psychophysiology and experimental psychology sought to clarify the role of emotions in interpersonal relationships, addressing, from the perspective of cognitive neuroscience, sympathy [37], empathy, attachment [38], imitation or emotional contagion [39] or topics from this spectrum.

In the second decade of the 21st century, increasingly rigorous approaches appear, the neurobiology of spirituality [45], the neuroscience of spirituality [46], the neuroscience of religious experiences [47] or the neuroscientific study of spiritual practices [48] and an increasingly thorough study of moral emotions and virtuous behaviours: altruism [49], *kindness* [50], generosity [51], *caring* [52, 53], *pity* [54], and even love [55]. Other studies, with similar approaches, aim to clarify the relationship between empathy and altruism [56], or between sympathy, pity and empathy [57]. The neuropsychological particularities of kindness are also neuro-cognitively investigated [58] and the possible links between generosity and the state of happiness [59, 60]. The framework provided by cognitive

¹ We refer to the conference entitled "Cogniție, cultură și Religie" ("Cognition, Culture and Religion"), organized at the Department of Comparative Religion at Western Michigan University in February 1996, with E. Thomas Lawson (considered to be the founder of cognitive approaches to religion) as chairman, and psychologist Justin Barrett, anthropologist Pascal Boyer, specialist Brian Malley, philosopher Robert McCauley, and anthropologist Harvey Whitehouse as speakers.

neuroscience has allowed investigations related to interpersonal neurobiology [61], social interaction and interpersonal attachment [62], but also to the psycho-pathology of excessive empathy [63], or in the case of extreme altruism [64].

1.4. The neurosciences of spiritual life - areas and working topics

The approaches of moral emotions, of virtuous conducts/behaviours, bring more and more into the discussion the exploration of S/RE. The beneficial effects of love in medical care [65], possible cyanogenic changes induced by the practice of *loving-kindness* [71], meditation [72] and compassion [73] or the practice of prayer [74] are scientifically examined. In addition to these, NSL also include fundamental research: contemplation [76], mindfulness [77], the experience of compassion [78], but also those concerns that seek to clarify a formal scientific framework for the study of S/R experiences [65].

Through developments of this kind, the field of neurosciences and NSL have increasingly acquired a social relevance, expanding the concern of medical sciences beyond the problem of disease, health or prevention, towards approaches aimed at the quality of individual life [84] and socio-cultural [85].

(An inventory of these historical moments, which concern NSL, is briefly presented and structured in 9 annexes of the thesis, totalling 50 pages.)

2. META-ANALYSES OF THE RELATIONSHIP BETWEEN S/RE AND HEALTH

The number of articles addressing the impact of R/S experiences on health has grown considerably in recent decades. A meta-analysis reveals this steady increase, examining studies published in PubMed on the subject [86]. Other meta-analyses provide various evaluations of the results obtained in the field of medical evaluations of S/R experiences. In Chapter II of the paper, we mention the results of several such meta-analyses. One of these, made by Harold Koenig [87], is remarkable for the number of articles, inventorying 3,300 medical studies (1,200 of them published between 1872 and 2000, and another 2,100 studies published between 2000 and 2010), highlighting correlations between religion/spirituality and various aspects of health. The cyanogenic influences of S/R practices in hypertension, coronary and cerebral-vascular diseases, dementia and Alzheimer's disease, but also in the regulation of endocrine and immune function, as well as a beneficial impact on the evolution

of cancer, at the level of general health, in the quality of mobility and physical capabilities and, more generally, in terms of life expectancy, in cultivating positive emotions, optimism and hope, in well-being, shaping the adaptive response to stress, reinforcing the sense of a meaningful life, but also positive character traits, increased self-esteem, and low rates of depression and suicide, substance abuse and anxiety, marital instability, and delinquency [87].

Such meta-analyses illustrate not only the considerable extension of scientific interest, but also the increased resolution with which the neurophysiological processes accompanying S/R experiences are examined and the increasing attention that CSE receives from the medical scientific world.

3. PSYCHO-ELECTROPHYSIOLOGICAL EXPLORATIONS OF THE IMPACT OF CHRISTIAN PRAYER (CR). THE CURRENT STAGE

3.1. Christian prayer: difficulties of systematic scientific/medical/empirical approach

The experience of prayer, located at the core of S/RE, raises considerable epistemological and methodological obstacles, related both to the formulation of scientific definitions and to the clarification of the methodological framework of empirical, psychological and medical exploration.

Prayer is commonly defined as a universal action or act, "corporate or personal", manifested through various "forms and techniques", present "in all religions, of all times", and expressing "people's communication with the sacred, with what is considered holy - God or gods, with the transcendent plan or with supernatural powers" [101]. A synthesis, made on the basis of several sources, indicates 27 distinct types of prayer (according to content and manner of expression), illustrating the variety of forms of this experience and the difficulty of defining it: adoration, confession, contemplation, expression of gratitude, meditation, focused prayer on overcoming some obstacles or mystical experience [99].

Aspects of this kind are indicated generically, in the scientific literature that examines prayer, by the term *multidimensionality of prayer*, a topic currently analysed in attempts to systematize the categorisation of prayers aimed at facilitating scientific research [103-105]. However, despite these difficulties, recent decades have seen a significant increase in interest in this subject. It is illustrated by the frequency of the word prayer in search engines. In *The National Library of Medicine*, the word "prayer" has an ever greater frequency in scientific

publications, starting in 1945 (18 occurrences), increasing annually, with a few exceptions, until 2021, when it reached 3268 uses [i].

3.2. Scientific analysis on the RE effects

An important number of studies have evaluated the effects of various types of prayer on health, with notable results in pain management [109], in coping strategies [110], in improving cardiovascular reactivity [111], or in the case of patients who have followed therapeutic procedures of aquatic rehabilitation [112]. Other research shows that praying to the Supreme Being, recited or listened to, has beneficial effects on patients with religious beliefs undergoing surgery [113], but also on the mood of doctors and patients [114].

3.3. Intercessory prayer

Intercessory prayer (IP) is a category that has been intensively studied in recent years and it refers to the situation in which a person prays for another person. On the one hand, IP seems to offer more possibilities for scientific evaluation of the effects of prayer, which promises clearer objectification possibilities, the patient most often not knowing that someone is praying for him. On the other hand, the interest in IP evaluation is also explained by the high percentage of workers in social assistance, highlighted by several surveys [117, 118]. In this regard, the findings are divided. There are articles that find no connection between IP and the subjects' health, while others claim the opposite.

Some studies are briefly presented in this research paper. A study, done by Byrd (1988), focused on a number of 339 patients (EG of 192 and CG of 201 patients, all with coronary disease), shows that EG patients required less assisted ventilation, antibiotics and diuretics, compared to CG patients [119]. Another (double-blind) study examined the possible effects of IP on some patients with psychological and rheumatic conditions. The medical status of each patient in EG and CG (which made up 19 pairs of patients) was evaluated at an interval between 8 and 18 months after the IP intervention, with no significant differences identified between the two groups of patients [120].

Two isolated cases of clinically well-documented unexplained cures are also mentioned, indicating possible effects of IP, but these too require careful scientific evaluation.

3.4. Meta-analyses of studies on the psycho-medical effects of prayer

Several meta-analyses have investigated and evaluated the research findings of the past decades regarding the link between PE and health, some identifying strong correlations, others noting that the data are still inconclusive. A 2009 meta-analysis examined the effectiveness of using prayer as a coping strategy to improve mental health symptoms, with 60% of the 598 studies reviewed indicating that PE was associated with improved mental health [133].

However, there are also meta-analyses finding that the evidence of the beneficial effects of PE or IP are still limited. Therefore, many articles recommend the need for a clearer evidence of the effects of prayer [136], including cases of unexplained healings from the recent clinical inventory [137], as well as experimental studies based on clear conceptual models, which use operationally precisely defined constructs, and longitudinal investigations that adequately measure control variables [138].

3.5. EEG analysis, brain and electrophysiological imaging of Catholic prayer

Several recent studies have followed the changes (psychological, electro and neurophysiological changes) induced by PE specific to the Christian tradition: increased levels of activity in the caudate nucleus in praying persons, suggesting stimulation of the dopaminergic system of the dorsal striatum [139], in TPJ – important in autobiographical memory and in relating to others, in the anterior region of the CPFM, engaged in interpersonal interactions, suggesting that in the case of Christians, prayer, as a relationship with the Supreme Being, resembles the experience of an inter-personal relationship [140]. Other studies have shown increases in the alpha power and an intensification of brain activity in regions associated with well-being (left side of the frontal and central regions) [142], intensifications of activity in the Right Medial Orbitofrontal Cortex (MOFC), Right Caudate Nucleus (right CN), left medial prefrontal cortex (left MPFC), left insular cortex (left IC) (zB 13), left caudate nucleus (left CN) [143].

We pointed out that there is a small number of articles that explore prayer in the Eastern Christian tradition (PECT), this being one of the reasons that led to the present research.

4. GENERAL HYPOTHESIS, WORKING HYPOTHESES AND TESTING THEM

The main purpose of the research is to identify the changes (psycho-emotional and electro-physiological) that could be induced by the practice of prayer according to the Christian-Orthodox tradition (PCOT), carried out individually, daily, 30 min., for 8 weeks. The changes were highlighted by psychometric, EEG and physiological measurements (salivary markers) applied to a number of 33 volunteers divided into two groups (Study Group = SG and Control Group = CG).

4.1. The experimental plan. Independent variable and dependent variables

The independent variable of the task (experimental task) is the practice of PCOT, for SG. *The dependent variables* were grouped into three sets: (psycho-emotional), perceived stress, anxiety as a state, coping strategies; (EEG parameters) in alpha, beta, gamma1 and gamma2 register; (physiological indicators) salivary markers: Alpha amylase, IgA, Cortisol, testosterone, oxytocin, interleukin-6 and interleukin-8. (We called these indicators *dependent variables* here, evaluating possible changes given by PCOT *–independent var*.)

Experimental conditions - The subjects performed the experimental task (PCOT) at home, a manner more appropriate to Christian prayer, this experimental plan facilitating the effect of the independent variable, and the validity of the possible results in the usual life, extra-laboratory, conditions.

4.2. General hypothesis and working hypotheses

The present research has as its general hypothesis that the individual practice of prayer in the Christian-Orthodox tradition (PCOT) induces psycho-physiological changes. Subsequently, we aim to test 3 sets of (causal) working hypotheses. Practicing PCOT daily, 30 minutes daily, for 8 weeks causes:

- psycho-emotional changes, implying decreasing anxiety and perceived stress, improving coping mechanisms (Set 1): significant reduction of the global score on the *Hamilton Anxiety Scale*, applied by the evaluator (Hypothesis 1.1), of the GAD 7 score, obtained by self-assessment (Hypothesis 1.2.), of the subjectively perceived stress level on the *Visual Analogue Scale of Perceived Stress*, obtained by self-assessment (Hypothesis 1.3.) of the global score on the *Perceived Stress Scale* (PSS-10), applied by the evaluator (Hypothesis 1.4.), strengthens coping mechanisms and increases the global COPE score, obtained through self-assessment (Hypothesis 1.5) - changes in EEG activity, amplifying the signal in the alpha, beta, gamma1 and gamma2 registers (Set 2): increases in brain electrical activity in the *alpha* register (Hypothesis 2.1), in the *beta* register (Hypothesis 2.2), in the *gamma1* register (Hypothesis 2.3) and in the *gamma2* register (Hypothesis 2.4)

- physiological changes of some salivary markers (Set 3): decrease in Alpha Amylase levels (Hypothesis 3.1); Cortisol (Hypothesis 3.3), Testosterone (Hypothesis 3.4), Interleukin 8 IL-8 (Hypothesis 3.7), increase of Immunoglobulin A (Hypothesis 3.2); Oxytocin (Hypothesis 3.5) and changes in Interleukin 6 (Hypothesis 3.6)

4.3. Testing the working hypotheses

For testing, we designed three studies, carried out on the same SG and CG groups (having the same composition), a number of 33 people (17 people in the Control Group – CG, and 16 people in the Study Group – SG).

To *test the first set of working hypotheses*, 5 scales, pre- and post-experience, were applied, to subjects from the two groups CG and SG. The responses, statistical and comparative analysis as well as the interpretation of the results are contained in *Study 1*.

To *test the second set of working hypotheses*, the subjects of the two CG and SG groups were placed, in the laboratory, in two measurement sessions (conducted before and after the 8 weeks of POCT experience). The measurement protocol provided for 10 intervals, with durations between 2 and 12 minutes, using the g.USBamp 16-channel biosignal amplification brain-computer interface system. Primary data analysis, benchmarking, results and discussion constituted *Study* 2.

To *test set 3 working hypotheses*, saliva samples were taken from CG and SG subjects (pre- and post-experience, after 8 weeks of PCOT practice), and pre- and post-test levels of salivary markers were compared. The primary data (continuous variables), the statistical analysis and the interpretation of the results being part of *Study 3 - Possible physiological changes induced by the practice of prayer in the Christian Orthodox tradition*, were published in *Fiziologia*².

² Research study in publication process in the journal *Fiziologia*, May 2023.

5. PARTICIPANTS AND GENERAL RESEARCH METHODOLOGY

5.1. Research location

The information meetings regarding the research project and the meeting for the signing of the informed consent statement were held at the UMPCD. The presentation meeting of the cognitive, emotional, psycho-behavioural and spiritual coordinates of PCOT, intended for SG subjects (Power Point – 25 slides, see Annex I), with a duration of 3 $\frac{1}{2}$ hours, was also held at UMPCD. EEG measurements, psychometric testing and collection of saliva samples, organized pre- and post-experimentally, for all subjects participating in the research, were carried out at the UMPCD (Physiology Laboratory). The individual experience (PCOT practice), carried out daily, for 30 minutes, during 8 weeks, for each of the subjects in the SG, took place at the home of each subject.

The recordings and the analysis of the EEG data were processed at UMPCD and the Technical University "Gh. Asachi" in Iaşi.

5.2. Participants

The study included a group of 33 healthy adults recruited through online recruitment notices.

The 33 subjects (24 women, 9 men, aged 20-57 years, the average age being 38.9 years) were divided into two groups (CG Control Group = 17 participants, 12 women and 5 men, the average age of 38.6 years; Study Group SG = 16 participants, 11 women, 5 men, the average age of 39.2 years). The division into the two groups was made on the basis of a directed interview, with the following criteria: people who live in Bucharest, with no experience in PCOT, no history of brain disorders, non-smokers, no weekly volunteer practice (more than 8 weeks, in the last half a year), without chronic conditions and who do not follow drug treatments.

To make up the study group, for the participants interview, three additional criteria were introduced, regarding the independent variable: subjects should know the general information on the Christian-Orthodox religion and spirituality (declared membership to Orthodox Christianity); subjects should not be constant (daily), but only occasional PCOT practitioners; subjects should be willing to fulfill the requirements of the experimental task (individual practice of PCOT, daily, for 30 minutes, over a period of 8 weeks).

Finally, the volunteer subjects in SG and CG were chosen in such a way that the two groups had a similar gender and age structure to reduce the number of random variables.

STUDY GROUP					CONTROL GROUP			
PT	ST	Gende	Age	0	Age	Gende	ST	PT
Code	Code	r	-		_	r	Code	Code
1	25	F	42		45	F	28	12
2	23	F	21		20	F	7	13
3	6	F	41		38	F	10	18
4	12	F	57		56	F	22	15
5	13	F	33		30	F	19	16
6	2	F	37		38	F	20	17
7	27	F	39		39	F	17	22
8	5	F	51		49	F	8	19
9	26	F	35		34	F	24	20
11	3	F	40		42	F	18	30
23	29	М	37		38	М	31	27
25	4	М	41		42	М	21	28
24	16	М	32		32	М	32	32
10	14	F	48		46	F	11	21
14	15	F	41		42	F	33	33
26	9	М	26		27	М	1	29
31	30	М	47		47			

Table 5.1. Age and gender structure of CG and SG. The numbers in the table representthe working codes of the subjects (PT code – the codes used in the Psychometric Tests; STcode – the codes used in the Saliva Tests)

5.3. Ethical considerations regarding the present research

The research was carried out after the approval of the project by the Ethics Commission of the UMPCD. All selected participants were informed about the stages of the study. (Document no. 176 / 05.09.2018)

5.4. Conducting the research and used methods

The preparatory stage for conducting research. Between November 2017 and March 2019: Fundraising necessary for the purchase of some devices (November 2017 – December 2018). Collected amount: 17520 RON and 2350 EURO; Purchase of the necessary materials (December 2018); Saliva kits (worth 10,356 RON); Helmet with 16 sensors and accessories (worth 18,778.20 RON); Signing of the Collaboration Protocol between UMPCD and TUIAȘI (December 2018 - February 2019) for EEG recording and primary data processing with

specialized hardware and software; Research approval by the UMPCD Ethics Commission (January 2018).

5.6 Research stages, diagram and timeline

Stage I (weeks 1-2) – Signing the consent statement. Stage II (week 331.03-07.04.2020) - Pre-test measurements (pre-experiment)

Stage III (week 4) – SG participants watched a presentation (3 ½hours) on the the experimental intervention (2 hours of presentation based on a 25 slides ppt and 1 ½ hour of questions and answers session) regarding the psycho-emotional and cognitive-behavioural coordinates of PCOT.

Stage IV (weeks 5-12) The experimental intervention for subjects in SG.

Stage V (weeks 13-15 / 8.06-02.07.2020) Post-test measurements for SG subjects, when measurements were performed no later than one week after the end of the experimental interval, with GS instructed to continue PCOT up to and including the day of measurements.

Stage VI - the processing and interpretation of primary data.

6. FIRST STUDY: EVALUATION OF POSSIBLE PSYCHOMETRIC CHANGES INDUCED BY THE PRACTICE OF PRAYER IN THE ORTHODOX CHRISTIAN TRADITION

6.1. General aim

The general objective of the study is to highlight the psychological changes in the field of stress/anxiety induced by the practice of PCOT.

6.2. Preliminary data

After applying the questionnaires, which was done by a resident psychiatrist, the data were entered in an Excel format document.

CODE	GENDER	AGE	EDUCATION	A1	A2	A3	A4	A5
1	2	42	7	1	1	1	1	1
2	2	22	5	1	1	2	0	0
3	2	43	7	1	1	1	2	1
4	2	58	8	1	1	0	0	0
5	2	33	7	1	2	3	1	0
6	2	37	8	2	2	3	0	0

Photo. 6.2.1. Extracted from the primary data centraliser. In the first column, there are the codes associated with each subject from SG and CC, from 1 to 33 (When applying the

questionnaire, it was not known whether the subjects belonged to SG or CG). Next, there are the columns corresponding to gender, age, and education level for each subject, and the first five items (A1-A5) of the Hamilton scale, for which the subjects' responses are completed.

6.3. Statistical analysis tools

Having distributions that do not meet the condition of normality and a limited sample (N < 30, the Study Group having 17 subjects and the Control Group 16 subjects) we used the *median* and *means*, *non-parametric tests for the median* (Wilcoxon signed-rank test), *t-tests* for paired data and the *Mann–Whitney test* for *independent samples*.

6.4. Statistical analysis and interpretation of results. Hamilton Anxiety Scale

Overall, we identified a similar evolution of the subjects from SG and CG, by recording a decrease in the score on the Hamilton scale, which does not definitively highlight that the PCOT practice contributed to the decrease in the level of anxiety in SG.

The analysis of the values of the 14 items, a1 - a14, revealed significant differences in *both groups*, pre- and post-test, regarding a9 ("anxious mood"), a2 ("relaxing difficulties /muscle tension"), a5 ("prosexo-mnesis difficulties "), a6 ("depression"), a8 ("changes on analysers"), a10 ("respiratory difficulties"). There were also statistically significant differences in CG subjects only, who at post-test showed changes in a9 item ("cardiovascular symptoms"), suggesting that other factors may have contributed to the improvement in CG subjects' responses.

	anxious mood	relaxing difficulties	prosexo-mnesis	depression	changes on	respiratory
	(a1)	/muscle tension (a2)	difficulties	(a6)	analysers (a8)	difficulties
			(a5)			(a10)
CG	P = 0,005 < P	P = 0,013 < P =	P = 0,035 < P	P = 0,004 < P	P = 0.02 < P =	p = 0,034 < P
	= 0,01, z = -	0,05, z = -2,496	= 0,05, z = -	= 0,01, z = -	0,05, z = -	= 0,05, z = -
	2,804		2,111	2,889	2,333	2,121
SG	P = 0,005 < P	P = 0,001 < P =	P = 0,034 < P	P = 0,007 < P	P = 0,035 < P	P = 0,014 <
	= 0,01, z = -	0,01, z = -3,307	= 0,05, z = -	= 0,01, z = -	= 0,05, z = -	0,05, z = -
	2,81		2,121	2,714	2,111	2,46

Table 6.4.1 Significant differences recorded between values of a1, a2, a5, a6, a8, a10, amongsubjects in GS and GC, pre- and post-testing.

However, the change that appeared in SG at post-test, regarding item a3 ("fears/phobias"), suggesting that the practice of PCOT after the experimental design could have reduced the intensity of fears/phobias among the subjects in SG, is significant. The result could be a starting point for a future study on the ways in which PCOT changes the intensity of the item corresponding to "fears/phobias". Moreover, possible correlations between the modification of this item in SG and the decrease in salivary cortisol level could be evaluated, with relevance regarding the effect of PCOT. In addition, the change appearing in GS at post-test regarding item

a14 ("appreciation of anxious mood at the interview") is also significant, suggesting a possible influence of PCOT.

	Fears/Phobias (a3)	Approximating the anxious mood at the interview (a14)
control group	P = 0,102 > P = 0,05,	P = 0,414 > P = 0,05,
	z = - 1,633	z = - 0,816
Study group[P = 0.046 < P = 0.05,	P = 0,002 < P = 0,01,
	z = - 1,999	z = - 3,162

Table 6.4.2. Significant differences recorded between the values of a3 ("fears/phobias")and a14 ("approximating anxious mood"), among subjects in SG, pre- and post-testing.

However, these possible correlations require future studies.

6.5. Statistical analysis and interpretation of results. The COPE Test

Important results were obtained from the analysis of the data corresponding to the *COPE* Test. The Wilcoxon paired-samples test did not provide statistically significant differences. However, several coping mechanisms are greater in SG compared to CG: *e act* ("the active approach" to coping) in pre-testing; *e res* ("control/abstain"), in pre-testing; *e pos* ("positive interpretation and growth") post-testing; *e rel* ("religious approach/religious coping"), post-testing.

	pre-testing e act	pre-testing e res	post-testing e pos	post-testing e rel
CG/SG	P = 0,025 < P =	P = 0,041 < P =	P = 0,023 < P =	P = 0,035 < P =
	0,05, z = -2,256	0,05, z = -2,067	0,05, z = -2,276	0,05, z = -2,112

Fig. 6.5.1. Coping items for which the average is significantly higher in SG vs CG.

Overall, it can be said that, although the study did not reveal a statistically significant influence of the practice of PCOT regarding the global score on the COPE scale, however, in SG, in post-testing, changes in some values were observed, regarding the two strategies of coping, respectively the positive interpretation and the religious approach and in certain items of the Hamilton scale.

6.6. Remarks

The results that we can consider relevant to the COPE inventory are post-testing *e pos* (the "positive interpretation" coping mechanism of the COPE) and post-testing *e rel* ("the religious

approach coping mechanism" of the COPE), even in the case of a reduced sample volume, which weakens the test results, the result still remaining significant, showing an effect size [149]. However, the changes recorded in SG in post-testing, on the two coping strategies, "positive interpretation" (**e pos**) and "religious approach" (*e rel*), do not change the final conclusion, as no significant inter-group differences are recorded at post-testing. They can only provide a picture of the dynamics within SG on the two coping mechanisms.

6.7. Study limits

The present study has some significant limitations, related to the recruitment of subjects and the composition of CG and SG, the unusual subject matter in the Romanian space, the length (daily, 8 weeks, for 30 min) and the requirements arising from the particularities of the experimental tasks such as the choice a quiet space at home, for PCOT, the thorough participation in the read prayers. In addition, the conditions of the experimental plan (which aimed to conduct the prayer in the private space, in privacy) did not allow the supervision of the subjects in the SG by the specialized staff, a fact that could have caused the interference with some random variables. To these, limitations of the chosen assessment tools were added in the present study. For example, the Hamilton scale does not differentiate between state anxiety and anxiety as personality trait.

The other hypotheses formulated in this study, namely *hypotheses 2, 3 and 4* regarding the significant reduction of the GAD 7 score, the subjective perceived stress on the *Visual Analogue Scale of Perceived Stress*, and the global score on the *Perceived Stress Scale* (PSS-10), through daily PCOT actions, 8/30, were not confirmed.

An intuitive correlation, namely that PCOT strengthens coping strategies based on positive interpretation and religious approach, corresponding to decreases in anxiety, could be examined for further research.

7. SECOND STUDY: POSSIBLE ELECTROPHYSIOLOGICAL CHANGES INDUCED BY THE PRACTICE OF PRAYER IN THE ORTHODOX CHRISTIAN TRADITION

7.1. General objective and working assumptions

The general objective of the second study of the present research was to highlight the possible changes in the alpha, beta and gamma register that appeared as a result of the PCOT practice. We formulated four working hypotheses: PCOT 30/8 causes an increase in brain electrical activity in the alpha register (hypothesis 2.1), beta (hypothesis 2.2) and gamma1 and

gamma2 (hypotheses 2.3 and 2.4) in SG subjects, evidenced by the level measured in post-test compared to the level measured at pre-testing.

7.2. Participants and Methods

The subjects presented in Chapter 5, Section 5.2, participated in this study. EEG recordings were performed in two stages, pre- and post-test, before and after the 8-week experimental interval (individual PCOT) intended for the subjects in the SG. Electrical brain (EEG) and cardiac activity were recorded using the g.USBamp biosignal amplification brain-computer interface system with 16 channels of signals being simultaneously sampled at a maximum frequency of 37.4 kHz at 24-bit resolution. The placement of the electrodes on the scalp of the subjects was done according to the international 10-20 system. Recordings followed a 10-interval unfolder (EEG Measurement Protocol), followed in the following order listed in Table 7.1.

Interval 1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8		9	10	
BLEO 1	BLEC 1	Personal Experience (PE)	BLEO 2	BLEC2	Vizualizatio n(VI)	BLEO 3	Col HandIN	d Pressure PAIN	/EGS HandOU T	BLEO 4	BLEC3
2 min.	2 min.	12 min.	2 min.	2 min.	2 min.	2 min.		3 min.	1	2 min.	2 min
Base line Open eyes The subjects were asked to look at a white wall.	Base line Closed eyes The subjects were asked to close their eyes.	In this stage, the subjects were asked to proceed with the personal experience. In this stage, the subjects in the Control Group were instructed to think of a loved one they are attached to (from childhood or the present), while subjects in the Study Group practiced, during this interval, PCOT, in a manner similar to that of the experimental intervention period. Participants were instructed that laboratory personnel, who measured EEG activity, did not know which group the subjects belonged to.			Subjects were asked to look at a photograh.		In this sta asked to bowl of c to Subject their hand as they c to signal when remove water whe	age the sub o insert a h old water a over the w as were tol- d in the wa ould. They (announce they feel p their hand en they car bear the pa	pjects were and into a at -4° C, up rrist. d to keep ater as long will have e verbally) pain and from the n no longer in.		

Table 7.2.1	EEG Measu	rement Protoco	l Intervals
--------------------	-----------	----------------	-------------



In interval 6 (photo), the subjects in the two groups were projected, on the white wall in front, a photograph (Photo 1), with the help of a video projector. The photograph was viewed by the subjects for 2 min. In the post-test, under similar conditions, the subjects looked at another photo for 2 minutes (Photo 2).

7.3. Collecting EEG data

For the recording and processing of electrical brain activity, we used a high-performance and precision biosignal amplifier g.USBamp (g.tec Medical Engineering Ltd) that supports 16 biosignal channels sampled simultaneously with a maximum frequency of 37.4 kHz, at a 24-bit resolution. Processing of recorded signals was done with g.Bsanalyze (g.tec Medical Engineering Ltd), an interactive software for multimodal biosignal processing and analysis in clinical research fields.

7.4. Primary data

Signal processing provided numerical primary data, entered into Excel tables.

1 C	CIIIO	3,/300/0354	2,030304244	2,031033040	2,37707030	3,403000034	3,003323043	2,30321/412	2,374074000
	Ch11	4,12777894	1,931595695	1,759773873	2,070363193	2,473822297	3,950078894	2,23281339	2,134340789
Gamma2	Ch12	3,521645714	1,777710779	1,63526645	2,167232272	2,851907318	5,422050453	3,321595079	2,745920536
		BLEO1			BLEC1				

Photo 7.4.1. For each of the 10 intervals, the processing of the recorded data provided a number of numerical values (one to four).



Photo 7.4.2. In addition to the numerical values, the primary data contain graphs corresponding to these values, for each individual sensor.

7.5. Statistical analysis tools

The tools used for the statistical analysis of the primary data are *non-parametric tests* for the median (Wilcoxon signed-rank test), *t-tests* for paired data, and *S.E.M bar charts*. (*Standard Error of the Mean*).

7.6. Results

Applying the Wilcoxon sing-rank test revealed significant differences in the median value in the case of SG subjects, pre/post-experience. The intended experimental design (PCOT, 30 min./

day, for 8 weeks), revealed changes in the *alpha* and *gamma2* registers, but not in the *beta* and *gamma1* registers, confirming working hypotheses 2.1 and 2.4. Working hypotheses 2.2 and 2.3 are not confirmed. The obtained corresponding P values for the *Wilcoxon sing-rank test* are:



 $P_{\alpha} = 0.0001, P_{\beta\gamma} = 0.9111, P_{\gamma 1} = 0.1085, P_{\gamma 2} = 0.0015$

Figure 7.6.1. Great mean values \pm S.E.M. for frequencies (all channels) at SG.

7.7. Discussions

Increases in electrical activity in the alpha register (8–12 Hz) correspond to an "idling state", with the reduction of sensory information processing [178], a non-directive meditation [179], but also various stages of rest, without this state of relaxation meaning an empty mind [179]. The intensification of activity in the alpha band is present in some types of meditation [180] and in connection with mindfulness sessions [181] (*M* - technique also called open *MD* meditation, of non-directive monitoring of thoughts). Regarding S/RE, two studies report increases in activity in the gamma register in subjects practicing Buddhist meditation [193] or Vipassana, Himalayan Yoga and Isha Shoonya (in this case it is the register between 60 and 110 Hz, corresponding to the gamma2 band) [176]. The results obtained, i.e. increases in the alpha and gamma register, could be significant, considering that Christian prayer in general, and Christian-Orthodox prayer in particular, do not represent a relaxation technique, having an important cognitive and attentional component (text and attention task), as well as specific body postures. Regarding S/RE, two studies report increases in activity in the gamma register in subjects practicing Buddhist meditation [193] or Vipassana, Himalayan Yoga and Isha Shoonya (in this case, the register is between 60 and 110 Hz, corresponding to gamma2 band) [176]. The obtained results, i.e. increases in the alpha and gamma register is between 60 and 110 Hz, corresponding to gamma2 band) [176]. The obtained results, i.e. increases in the alpha and

gamma register, could be significant, considering that Christian prayer in general, and Christian-Orthodox prayer in particular, does not represent a relaxation technique, having an important cognitive and attention component (text and attention task), as well as specific body postures.

7.8. Limitations of the study

Some limitations of the study stem from the insufficiency of recorded data. For example, comparing individual CG and SG data that were acquired pre/post-experience for three distinct stages (BLEO1, BLEC1 and PE) was not possible due to insufficient data. The EEG measurement protocol provided 4 numerical values for intervals 3 (PE) and 6 (VI) and a single value for Interval 8 – Cold Pressure (PAIN/HIP). In the case of interval 8 (PAIN/HIP), a single numerical value does not allow either the calculation of the standard deviation or of S.E.M. to highlight variability/accuracy.

Further studies should provide for a larger number of subjects (SG and CG), more values for each step in the Measurement Protocol, and the extension of PCOT (Personal Experience) range for SG subjects for a more detailed analysis that would selectively include channels that correspond to sensors located in certain regions of interest.

8. THIRD STUDY: PHYSIOLOGICAL CHANGES INDUCED BY THE PRACTICE OF PRAYER IN THE CHRISTIAN-ORTHODOX TRADITION

In the third study of the present research, we examined whether 30/8 PCOT causes physiological changes by following the levels of salivary markers commonly used as indicators for the physiological response to stress, in states such as anxiety or depression, but also in the evaluation of therapeutic potential of medical or Spiritual/Religious interventions (S/RE): Salivary Cortisol, Salivary Alpha-amylase (AAs), Immunoglobulin A (IgA), Oxytocin, Testosterone, and the cytokines interleukin 6 (IL-6) and interleukin 8 (IL-8).

Study 3 was published in detail in the journal Fiziologia in the May 2023 issue.

The working hypotheses focused on the decrease in the levels of Cortisol and sAA, increases in the levels of Immunoglobulin A (IgA), Oxytocin, Testosterone and changes in the levels of cytokines IL-6 and IL-8, post-testing, compared to the time of pre-testing, in the subjects from SG, after 30/8 PCOT.

8.1. Collection of saliva samples

The collection protocol provided for the movement of the volunteers to the laboratory premises, the sampling being carried out one hour after waking up, prior to which several conditions

were met: the absence of alcohol and coffee consumption 12 hours before sampling; avoiding tooth brushing the evening before harvesting, not smoking before 12 hours before sampling, not consuming food or alcohol at least 8 hours before, the absence of sustained physical effort in the morning of sampling. In an interval of 3 hours, samples collected from CG and SG subjects - in sterile Salivette sampling vials (Sarstedt, Italy) - were placed in ice boxes with isothermal cover, transported and centrifuged (6000 rpm min.) in the cold for 20 minutes. The storage of the supernatant samples of each sample was carried out in sterile 1.5 ml Eppendorf tubes, stored at - 20°C, for a period of 30 days. In the obtained samples, the mentioned parameters were dosed, in accordance with the protocol specified by the manufacturer of each specific kit. The results were related to the salivary albumin concentration (determined by the ELISA technique, using a Diametra reagent kit (Italy) and a semi-automatic ELISA analyser STAT FAX 303, USA).

8.2. Relevant results

After the elimination of the contaminated/inappropriate samples, the measurements of each parameter and the statistical analysis revealed two variables of interest with statistically significant changes post-testing compared to the time of pre-testing, in the case of SG subjects the decrease of Salivary Cortisol (sC) and an increase of Interleukin 6 (IL-6), none of the other hypotheses being validated.

After the elimination of the contaminated/inappropriate samples, the measurements of each parameter and the statistical analysis revealed two variables of interest with statistically significant changes post-testing compared to the time of pre-testing, in the case of SG subjects the decrease of Salivary Cortisol (sC) and an increase of Interleukin 6 (IL-6), none of the other hypotheses being validated.

	Cortisol	IL-6
Wilcoxon test (left)	0.9898	0.0183*
Wilcoxon test (right)	0.0113**	0.983
Wilcoxon test (both)	0.0226***	0.0366***

 Table 8.2.1. Wilcoxon Test values for Cortisol and salivary IL-6 corresponding to subjects in SG, pre- and post-testing.

Regarding the SG subjects, the median of the values of salivary Cortisol concentrations, after completing the experimental interval, was significantly lower (15.77) compared to the median values obtained at the time of pre-testing (18.10), and the median values of IL-6 concentrations salivary was significantly higher (15.28) compared to the median values obtained at the time of

pre-testing (14.37). No statistically significant results were obtained for the other salivary markers. We discuss results in the context of similar studies, highlighting some specific limitations of studies that evaluate the physiological changes induced by spiritual/religious experiences, especially those that use salivary markers, also formulating some recommendations for increasing the methodological quality of future studies.

8.3. Discussions

The decrease in the level of salivary Cortisol could be correlated with the decrease in anxiety assessed by the Hamilton Scale, indicated by items *a3* and *a14*, reported in Study 1, but also with the intensification of the electrical activity of the brain, in the alpha register highlighted in Study 2, in the case of SG. On the other hand, the absence of conclusive global results, in the inter-group evaluations, correlates with the weak differentiation of CG vs. SG, pre and post-testing, found in Study 1 - regarding psycho-emotional changes and in Study 2 regarding EEG activity. This points to the need for future studies with rigorous experimental designs and the role of measurement protocols that can increase the methodological quality of S/RE examinations.

There are studies that found a decrease in salivary cortisol levels as a result of an S/RE practice. One of them focused on the practice of mindfulness (in the case of a study group consisting of war veterans) [38], and another evaluated yoga-nidra exercises in patients suffering from insomnia [39].

Other studies, focused on S/RE, reported increased levels of IL-6 as a result of Yoga practice, in the case of a group of 38 people (19 men, 19 women, 5 hours/day with a vegetarian diet) [49] and in a group of elderly subjects (65-85), with weaker immune activity, after 8 weeks of MBSR sessions, suggesting that mindfulness practice could improve the effects of aging.

The results obtained in this study indicate that RTCO 30/8, causing a statistically significant decrease in salivary Cortisol and an increase in IL-6m suggesting that PCOT could improve the physiological response to stress and the inflammatory response, in certain situations. However, further studies are needed to see to what extent PCOT influences IL-6 in non-elderly adults.

9. CONCLUSIONS AND PERSONAL CONTRIBUTIONS. THE NEUROSCIENCES OF CULTURE AND HEALTH

9.1. Neuroscientific exploration of S/RE

In the last decades, through the contribution of neuro-cognitive sciences but also through the advance of imaging technologies and molecular diagnostic techniques, the study of S/RE has gained important elements. There is already great evidence regarding the impact of S/RE on health

in general, and neurophysiologically in particular. A number of important results (concerning psycho-somatics, psycho-physiology or self-induced neuroplasticity) have attempted to provide various explanations regarding the impact of inner mood on autonomic response [200], the link between affiliation motivation and immune response [201], the influence of adverse environmental stimuli [202] and thought content [203] on heart rate. Other more recent findings, also relevant to S/RE, have brought into discussion specialized neural networks on empathy and the effects of exposure to altruism [206], the influence of forgiveness on psycho-physiological parameters [207] and the role of moral emotions and social connectivity in health [208], the polyvagal theory regarding the impact of the feeling of safety on the autonomic response [209], the influence of coping mechanisms in the transcriptional response to adversity [210], but also telomere plasticity [211] and self-induced epigenetics [212]. All this shows the extension of concerns and the refined and integrative descriptions proposed by recent medical research, which emphasize the relevance of certain practices in neuro-physiological processes.

However, there are many unclear aspects regarding the ways in which ES? They prove to be beneficial, since, for example, in the case of pain reduction, they do not seem to be mediated by opioid pathways [170], while appreciating that the psychological mediation of prayer is not clearly demonstrated [136]. Observations such as these prove the need for caution both in the results obtained and in the formulation of interpretations.

In general, and with regard to the study of prayer, it is recommended that studies which provide for better designed experimental designs, more careful formulation of working hypotheses, thorough examination of the epistemological framework and empirical design, for a better evaluation of the effects of prayer, including those aimed at situations of miraculous healings be developed [137].

9.2. Evaluations of the impact of prayer and PCOT on health

We have briefly presented studies reporting psycho-emotional and neuro-physiological changes induced by S/RE. Recent meta-analyses add to these evaluations, reporting beneficial effects of prayer on health [86], and on pain management [213, 214]. In this context, studies on PCOT also signal the presence of relevant medical changes. However, we noted the absence of studies that examine the possible changes induced by PCOT, carried out in usual experimental frameworks for this subject (task independent variable, experimental interval of 6-8 weeks, dependent variables of physiological, psycho-metric and electro-physiological order or imaging). A possible explanation for the absence of these studies targeting prayer in general and PCOT in particular is related to the already noted fact that prayer presents a multidimensional structure, being present in individual or collective forms. On the other hand, it is also about fitting spiritual

experience into the matrix of the cognitive sciences, an undertaking that raises, as we have seen, many difficulties. Thus, some authors assess a certain inadequacy of the study of S/RE through sciences, implying that studies aimed at the healing effects of prayer are full of assumptions, challenges and contradictions, and that the limitations of scientific approaches will inevitably mark this area of work [74].

9.3. Personal contribution

In the Romanian space, but also at the international level, there is no systematic presentation of the area of neuroscience focused on either S/RE research/examination in general or the Christian one in particular, and their impact on health.

First of all, the present paper makes a significant contribution to the research in the field through the systematic presentation of the most important historical stages and representative figures regarding the onset, history and representative contributions in the neuroscientific/neuropsychological-physiological study of S/RE. These are Chapters 1, 2 and 3 and Annexes 1 to 9 (105 pages).

Another personal contribution of the present work is the **approach**, for the first time in the **Romanian medical research area of PCOT according to an experimental plan usually used** in **neurophysiological research of S/RE** (control group, study group, independent variable of task, with an experimental interval of 8 weeks, set of dependent variables and pre- and post-test measurements subjected to statistical analyses).

Several working hypotheses, formulated in the three studies (psychometrics, EEG and salivary markers), regarding possible changes induced by PCOT among subjects from SG, in the post-testing compared to the pre-testing moment, were validated. PCOT 30/8 correlates with a decrease in salivary Cortisol (sC) levels and an increase in IL-6, with changes in the alpha and gamma2 register, $P\alpha = 0.0001$, $P\gamma 2 = 0.0015$, respectively. In addition, some post-testing changes were highlighted in the SG subjects, regarding a3 item ("fears/phobias") and a14item ("assessment of anxious mood at the interview") on the Hamilton scale (anxiety), and in the environments values corresponding to coping mechanisms - *e pos* ("positive interpretation and growth") and *e rel* ("religious approach/religious coping"), from the COPE test. These suggest possible changes driven by PCOT practice among SG subjects.

However, overall, we did not reveal a significant influence of PCOT practice among SG subjects, post-testing, compared to pre-testing, regarding the global score on the Hamilton scale (anxiety) and COPE or salivary markers (IgAs, Os, Ts, AAs, IL-8) and EEG activity corresponding to *beta* and *gammal* bands.

For this reason, no clearer conclusions can be formulated regarding the existence of changes induced by PCOT.

The clinical and therapeutic relevance underlines the importance of the neuroscientific study of S/RE, being also supported by other findings regarding the desirable and undesirable effects of cultural experiences on the brain, on neurophysiology and on the quality of life [95, 215], sustaining the need to develop research in this area, along with the conceptual and methodological refinement.

SELECTIVE BIBLIOGRAPHY

- 7. Friedenberg Jay, Silverman Gordon, Spivey Michael J., eds. *Cognitive Science. An Introduction to the Study of Mind.* Fourth Edition, SAGE, 2022, p. 2.
- 8. Harish Robert M. *Minds, Brains, and Computers: An Historical Introduction to the Foundations of Cognitive Science*. First Edition. Oxford: Wiley-Blackwell, 2002, pp. 1-17.
- 11. Cohen D. Magnetoencephalography: evidence of magnetic fields produced by alpha-rhythm currents. *Science*, 1968;161(2843):784-786. doi: 10.1126/science.161.3843.784.
- A.I. Ahonen, M.S. Hämäläinen, M.J. Kajola, J.E.T. Knuutila, P.P. Laine, O.V. Lounasmaa, L.T. Parkkonen, J.T. Simola, C.D. Tesche. 122-channel SQUID instrument for investigating the magnetic signals from the human brain. *Phys. Scr.* 1993;T49:198-205.
- Wijdicks EFM. The First CT Scan of the Brain: Entering the Neurologic Information Age. Neurocrit Care. 2018 Jun;28(3):273-275. doi: 10.1007/s12028-017-0495-3. PMID: 29274050.
- Kuhl D. E., Edwards R. Q. Image separation radioisotope scanning. *Radiology*. 1963;80(4):653–662. doi: 10.1148/80.4.653.
- Chesler D. A.. Positron tomography and three-dimensional reconstruction technique. In *Tomographic Imaging in Nuclear Medicine*. Freedman G. S., New York: Society of Nuclear Medicine, 1973, pp. 176–183.
- Horvath, J. C., Perez, J. M., Forrow, L., Fregni, F., & Pascual-Leone, A. Transcranial magnetic stimulation: a historical evaluation and future prognosis of therapeutically relevant ethical concerns. *Journal of Medical Ethics*. 2010;37(3):137–143. doi:10.1136/jme.2010.039966.
- Belliveau, J., Kennedy, D., McKinstry, R., Buchbinder, B., Weisskoff, R., Cohen, M., Vevea, J., Brady, T., Rosen, B. Functional mapping of the human visual cortex by magnetic resonance imaging. *Science*. 1991;254 (5032):716–719.
- Morita Tomoyo, Asada Minoru, Naito Eiichi. Contribution of Neuroimaging Studies to Understanding Development of Human Cognitive Brain Functions. *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*. September 2016;10:464. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2016.00464.
- 20. Whitehouse Harvey. *Arguments and Icons: divergent modes of religiosity*. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2000.
- 21. Boyer Pascal. *Religion explained: The evolutionary origins of religious thought*. New York: Basic Books, 2001.
- 22. Barrett Justin L. *Why Would Anyone Believe in God?* (Cognitive Science of Religion Series). Lanham: AltaMira Press, 2004.
- 23. McCauley RN, Lawson ET. Bringing Ritual to Mind: Psychological Foundations of cultural forms. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2002.

- Barrett, Justin L. Cognitive Science of Religion: Looking Back, Looking Forward. *Journal for the Scientific Study of Religion*. 2011;50(2):229–39. JSTOR, http://www.jstor.org/stable/41307072. Accessed 2 Jul. 2022.
- 25. Barrett, J.L. Cognitive Science of Religion: What Is It and Why Is It?. *Religion Compass* 2007;1(6):768-786. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1749-8171.2007.00042.x</u>.
- 26. Kevern P. Spiritual care as a response to an exaptation: how evolutionary psychology informs the debate. *Nurs Philos*. 2017 Apr;18(2). doi: 10.1111/nup.12139. PMID: 27397768.
- 27. Paley J. Why the cognitive science of religion cannot rescue 'spiritual care'. *Nurs Philos*. 2015 Oct;16(4):213-25. doi: 10.1111/nup.12102. PMID: 26308949.
- 31. Mihalache, AS; Zăgrean, A-M; Bălan, DG; Stoleriu, I; și Zăgrean, L. Possible physiological changes induced by the practice of prayer in the christian-orthodox tradition. *Physiology*. 2023;104(1): 28-46;
- 37. Hardy, C. Clinical sympathy: the important role of affectivity in clinical practice. *Med Health Care and Philos*. 2019;22: 499–513. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11019-018-9872-8</u>.
- Jimenez XF. Attachment in medical care: A review of the interpersonal model in chronic disease management. *Chronic Illn.* 2017;13(1):14-27. doi: 10.1177/1742395316653454. PMID: 27269506.
- Elaine Hatfield et al. Emotional Contagion and Empathy. In *The Social Neuroscience of Empathy*. Jean Decety, William Ickes eds. Boston, MA: MIT Press, 2009. doi:10.7551/mitpress/9780262012973.003.0003.
- 45. Mohandas E. Neurobiology of spirituality. *Mens Sana Monogr.* 2008 Jan;6(1):63-80. doi: 10.4103/0973-1229.33001. PMID: 22013351; PMCID: PMC3190564.
- 46. Jastrzebski, A.K. The Neuroscience of Spirituality. *Pastoral Psychol*. 2018;67:515–524. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11089-018-0840-2.
- 47. McNamara Patrick. *The Neuroscience of Religious Experience*. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press, 2009.
- Newberg AB. The neuroscientific study of spiritual practices. *Front Psychol.* 2014 Mar 18;5:215. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2014.00215. PMID: 24672504; PMCID: PMC3957224.
- Feldman, Mitchell D. Altruism and Medical Practice. *Journal of general internal medicine*. 2017;32(7):719-720. doi:10.1007/s11606-017-4067-1.
- 50. Peate I. Kindness, caring and compassion. Aust Nurs J. 2012 Feb;19(7):16. PMID: 22390009.
- Brock, J.M., Lange, A., & Leonard, K.L. Generosity and Prosocial Behavior in Healthcare Provision: Evidence from the Laboratory and Field. *Journal of Human Resources*. 2016;51(1):133-162. <u>https://www.muse.jhu.edu/article/609068</u>.
- 52. Chochinov, HM. Health care, health caring, and the culture of medicine. *Current oncology*. 2014 Oct; 21(5):e668-9. doi:10.3747/co.21.2239.

- 53. Thomas D, Newcomb P, Fusco P. Perception of Caring Among Patients and Nurses. *Journal of Patient Experience*. 2019;6(3):194-200. doi:10.1177/2374373518795713.
- Diggins Kristene. Compassion or Pity?. *Journal of Christian Nursing*. April/June 2007; 24 (2): 81.
- 55. Höppner, Sky Elisabeth, Donna L. M. Kurtz, Penelope Cash, and Jeanette Vinek. Love in Healthcare: A Gadamerian Inquiry into Nurses' Experience. *The International Journal of Health, Wellness, and Society.* 2019;10(1):13-32. doi:10.18848/2156-8960/CGP/v10i01/13-32.
- Frans B.M. de Waa, Putting the Altruism Back into Altruism: The Evolution of Empathy, *Annu. Rev. Psychol.* 2008;59:279–300. doi: 10.1146/annurev.psych.59.103006.093625.
- Gerdes Karen E. Empathy, Sympathy, and Pity: 21st-Century Definitions and Implications for Practice and Research. *Journal of Social Service Research*. 2011; 37(3):230-241. doi: 10.1080/01488376.2011.564027.
- Mota Nayara et al. Contextualized Contribution of Kindness to Favorable Goal- and Circumstantial-Driven Neuropsychological Regulation. *Frontiers in Psychology*. 2017; 8:1643. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2017.01643.
- 59. Park, Soyoung Q et al. A neural link between generosity and happiness. *Nature communications*. 2017;8:15964. doi:10.1038/ncomms15964.
- Inagaki, Tristen K et al. The Neurobiology of Giving Versus Receiving Support: The Role of Stress-Related and Social Reward-Related Neural Activity. *Psychosomatic medicine*. 2016;78(4):443-453. doi:10.1097/PSY.0000000000000302.
- 61. Schore AN. The Interpersonal Neurobiology of Intersubjectivity. *Front Psychol.* 2021 Apr 20;12:648616. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2021.648616. PMID: 33959077; PMCID: PMC8093784.
- Vrtička P, Vuilleumier P. Neuroscience of human social interactions and adult attachment style. *Front Hum Neurosci.* 2012 Jul;6:212. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2012.00212. PMID: 22822396; PMCID: PMC3398354.
- Tone, Erin B, and Erin C Tully. Empathy as a "risky strength": a multilevel examination of empathy and risk for internalizing disorders. *Development and Psychopathology*. 2014; 26: 1547-65. doi:10.1017/S0954579414001199.
- 64. Barbara Oakley, Ariel Knafo, Guruprasad Madhavan, David Sloan Wilson (eds.). *Pathological Altruism*. Oxford: Oxford University Press, 2011.
- 65. Newberg Andrew. The neuroscientific study of spiritual practices. *Frontiers in Psychology*. 2014;5:215. doi:10.3389/fpsyg.2014.00215.
- 71. Mascaro, Jennifer S et al. The neural mediators of kindness-based meditation: a theoretical model. *Frontiers in Psychology*. 2015;6:109. doi:10.3389/fpsyg.2015.00109.
- Barnes VA, Davis HC, Murzynowski JB, Treiber FA. Impact of meditation on resting and ambulatory blood pressure and heart rate in youth. *Psychosom Med.* 2004 Nov-Dec;66(6):909-14. doi: 10.1097/01.psy.0000145902.91749.35. PMID: 15564357.

- 73. Adrian Sorin Mihalache. Neurosciences of Spiritual Life. Some results regarding the effect of meditation and compassion on emotional disposition and on health, comunicare susținută în cadrul *International Cognitive Sciences Summer School – Academia Română, Filiala Iasi*, ca bursier în cadrul proiectului "Inovare și dezvoltare în structurarea si reprezentarea cunoașterii prin burse doctorale și postdoctorale" (IDSRC – doc postdoc, POSDRU/159/1.5/S/133675). <u>https://acadiasi.org/proiecte/inovare-si-dezvoltare-in-structurareasi-reprezentarea-cunoasterii-prin-burse-doctorale-si-postdoctorale/.</u>
- Andrade C, Radhakrishnan R. Prayer and healing: A medical and scientific perspective on randomized controlled trials. *Indian J Psychiatry*. 2009 Oct-Dec;51(4):247-53. doi: 10.4103/0019-5545.58288. PMID: 20048448; PMCID: PMC2802370.
- 76. Adrian Sorin Mihalache. "Contemplația: O privire cuprinzătoare asupra lumii pe înălțimile vieții spirituale. Perspective neuroștiintifice și filocalice", comunicare susținută în 14 martie 2014, la *Brain Awarnes Week* (Săptămâna creierului) -"Creier pentru societate", 10-16 martie 2014, *Universitatea de Medicină și Farmacie "Carol Davila*", București.

(https://www.academia.edu/99507485/Contemplatia_BAW_2014).

- 77. Wheeler, M.S., Arnkoff, D.B. & Glass, C.R. The Neuroscience of Mindfulness: How Mindfulness Alters the Brain and Facilitates Emotion Regulation. *Mindfulness*. 2017;8: 1471– 1487. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12671-017-0742-x</u>.
- 78. Adrian Sorin Mihalache. The Experience of Compassion Possible Long-term Changes in Cortex Areas. A Few Recent Findings in the Field of Neurosciences. In *Cognitive Sciences – An Interdisciplinary Approach*, Tudorel Dima and Mihaela Luca (editors). Bucureşti: Prouniversitaria, 2015, pp. 211-227.
- 84. Adrian Sorin Mihalache. "Neuroscience of Spiritual Life. Recent research topics and their relevance to improve the quality of life", comunicare susținută la *Conferința Internațională a Societății Române de Neuroștiințe*, București, ediția a VII-a, 2016. <u>http://snn2016.snn.ro/program/index.html</u>;

https://www.researchgate.net/publication/369541816_Neurosciences_of_Spiritual_Life_Some_re sults_regarding_the_effect_of_meditation_and_compassion_on_emotional_disposition_and_on_ health.

85. Adrian Sorin Mihalache, "Neuroștiințele vieții spirituale. Despre evaluarea potențialului terapeutic al experiențelor spirituale și relevanța lor în societatea actuală", susținută la *Academia Română - Centrul Național de Cercetare a Creierului*, 28 September 2022 București.

https://www.researchgate.net/publication/369541593_Neurostiintele_vietii_spiritualeDespre_eva

<u>luarea_potentialului_terapeutic_al_experientelor_spirituale_si_relevanta_lor_in_societatea_actua</u> <u>lă</u>.

- Lucchetti G, Lucchetti ALG. Spirituality, religion, and health: over the last 15 years of field research (1999–2013). *Int Journal Psychiatry Med.* 2014;48(3):199-215. <u>https://doi.org/10.2190/pm.48.3.e.</u>
- Koenig HG. Religion, spirituality, and health: the research and clinical implications. *ISRN Psychiatry*. 2012;2012:278730. doi: 10.5402/2012/278730. PMID: 23762764; PMCID: PMC3671693.
- 95. Mihalache, AS. Die Revolution (Mc)Mindfulness: Einige Betrachtungen aus der Perspektive der christlichen Spiritualität (Revoluția (Mc)mindfulness: câteva considerații din perspectiva spiritualității creștine). *International Journal of Orthodox Theology*. 2021;12(1):25-51.
- 99. Ralph W. Hood, Jr., Peter C. Hill, and Bernard Spilka. *The Psychology of Religion, Fourth Edition: An Empirical Approach.* &1, Ediție electronică.
- 101. Hamman, A. G. "Prayer", în *Encyclopaedia Britannica*, 2015, Retrieved October 23, 2019 from https:// www.britannica.com/topic/prayer.
- 103. Zarzycka, B., Krok, D., Tomaka, K., & Rybarski, R. Multidimensional Prayer Inventory: Psychometric properties and clinical applications. *Religions*. 2022;13(1):79.
- 104. Lazar, A. (2014). The structure and validity of the Multidimensional Prayer Inventory among Israeli Jewish prayers. *Psychology of Religion and Spirituality*. 2014;6(3):237–244. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/a0035178</u>.
- 105. Poloma, Margaret M., and Brian F. Pendleton. Exploring Types of Prayer and Quality of Life: A Research Note. *Review of Religious Research*. 1989;31(1):46–53. JSTOR, https://doi.org/10.2307/3511023. Accessed 30 Jan. 2023.
- 109. Dezutter J, Wachholtz A, Corveleyn J. Prayer and pain: the mediating role of positive re-appraisal. *J Behav Med*. 2011 Dec;34(6):542-9. doi: 10.1007/s10865-011-9348-2. Epub 2011 Apr 23. PMID: 21516338; PMCID: PMC6689415.
- 110. Kevin L. Ladd and Bernard Spilka. Prayer: A Review of the Empirical Literature, &16, APA Handbook of Psychology, Religion, and Spirituality: Vol. 1. Context, Theory, and Research, K. I. Pargament (Editor-in-Chief), 2013, pp. 298-299.
- 111. Masters, K. S., Emerson, R. W. IV, & Hooker, S. A. Effects of devotional prayer and secular meditation on cardiovascular response to a faith challenge among Christians. *Psychology of Religion and Spirituality*, 2022;14(2):251–259. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/rel0000369.</u>
- 112. Jaqueline Lopes, Mônica R. Lira, Gina A. Abdala, and Alberto M. S. Oliveira, O impacto da reabilitação aquática associada à oração no desempenho funcional de pacientes pós-acidente vascular encefálico. *Saúde Coletiva*. 2010;37:9–14.

- 113. Andrade C, Radhakrishnan R. Prayer and healing: A medical and scientific perspective on randomized controlled trials. *Indian J Psychiatry*. 2009 Oct-Dec;51(4):247-53. doi: 10.4103/0019-5545.58288. PMID: 20048448; PMCID: PMC2802370.
- 114. Schroder DM. Presidential Address: Can prayer help surgery? *Am J Surg.* 2011 Mar;201(3):2758. doi: 10.1016/j.amjsurg.2010.08.029. PMID: 21367363.
- 117. Canda, E. R., Nakashima, M., & Furman, L. D. Ethical Considerations about Spirituality in Social Work: Insights from a National Qualitative Survey. *Families in Society*. 2004;85(1):27– 35. <u>https://doi.org/10.1606/1044-3894.256</u>.
- 118. David Drew, Jessica Banks, Rigaud Joseph. Religion and spirituality in clinical practice: an exploration of comfort and discomfort among practitioners. *Journal of Religion & Spirituality in Social Work: Social Thought*. 2022;41(1):104-120.
- 119. Byrd RC. Positive therapeutic effects of intercessory prayer in a coronary care unit population. *South Med J.* 1988 Jul;81(7):826-9. doi: 10.1097/00007611-198807000-00005. PMID: 3393937.
- 120. Joyce, C. R. B., & Wellson, R. M. C. (1965). The objective efficacy of prayer: A double-blind clinical trial. *Journal of Chronic Diseases*, 1965;18(4):367–377. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0021-9681(65)90040-8.</u>
- 133. Kimball, Benjamin M. A Practical Meta-Analysis of Prayer Efficacy in Coping with Mental Health. Social Work Master's Clinical Research Papers. 2013;207. <u>https://ir.stthomas.edu/ssw_mstrp/207</u>.
- 136. Illueca M, Doolittle BR. The Use of Prayer in the Management of Pain: A Systematic Review. J Relig Health. 2020 Apr;59(2):681-699. doi: 10.1007/s10943-019-00967-8. PMID: 31912350.
- 137. Kruijthoff D, Bendien E, Kooi Kvd, Glas G, Abma T. Prayer and Healing: A Study of 83 Healing Reports in the Netherlands. *Religions*. 2022;13(11):1056. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/rel13111056</u>.
- 138. Masters KS, Spielmans GI. Prayer and health: review, meta-analysis, and research agenda. J Behav Med. 2007 Aug;30(4):329-38. doi: 10.1007/s10865-007-9106-7. Epub 2007 May 3. Erratum in: J Behav Med. 2007 Oct;30(5):447. PMID: 17487575.
- 139. Schjødt U, Stødkilde-Jørgensen H, Geertz AW, Roepstorff A. Rewarding prayers. *Neurosci Lett.* 2008 Oct 10;443(3):165-8. doi: 10.1016/j.neulet.2008.07.068. Epub 2008 Jul 31. PMID: 18682275.
- 140. Schjoedt U, Stødkilde-Jørgensen H, Geertz AW, Roepstorff A. Highly religious participants recruit areas of social cognition in personal prayer. *Soc Cogn Affect Neurosci.* 2009 Jun;4(2):199-207. doi: 10.1093/scan/nsn050. Epub 2009 Feb 25. PMID: 19246473; PMCID: PMC2686228.
- 142. Beauregard M, Paquette V. EEG activity in Carmelite nuns during a mystical experience. *Neurosci Lett.* 2008 Oct 17;444(1):1-4. doi: 10.1016/j.neulet.2008.08.028. Epub 2008 Aug 14. PMID: 18721862.

- 143. Beauregard M, Paquette V. Neural correlates of a mystical experience in Carmelite nuns.
 Neurosci Lett. 2006 Sep 25;405(3):186-90. doi: 10.1016/j.neulet.2006.06.060. Epub 2006 Jul 26.
 PMID: 16872743.
- 149. Popa, Marian. *Statistică psihologică și prelucrarea computerizată a datelor. Noțiuni statistice fundamentale. Statistici descriptive*, Universitatea din București, Ed. Credis, 2008.
- 170. Elmholdt E-M, Skewes J, Dietz M, Møller A, Jensen MS, Roepstorff A, Wiech K and Jensen TS. Reduced Pain Sensation and Reduced BOLD Signal in Parietofrontal Networks during Religious Prayer. *Front. Hum. Neurosci.* 2017;11:337. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2017.00337.
- 176. Braboszcz C, Cahn BR, Levy J, Fernandez M, Delorme A. Increased Gamma Brainwave Amplitude Compared to Control in Three Different Meditation Traditions. *PLoS One*. 2017 Jan 24;12(1):e0170647. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0170647. PMID: 28118405; PMCID: PMC5261734.
- 178. Pfurtscheller G, Stancák A Jr, Neuper C. Event-related synchronization (ERS) in the alpha band-an electrophysiological correlate of cortical idling: a review. *Int J Psychophysiol*. 1996 Nov;24(1-2):39-46. doi: 10.1016/s0167-8760(96)00066-9. PMID: 8978434.
- 179. Lagopoulos J, Xu J, Rasmussen I, Vik A, Malhi GS, Eliassen CF, Arntsen IE, Saether JG, Hollup S, Holen A, Davanger S, Ellingsen Ø. Increased theta and alpha EEG activity during nondirective meditation. *J Altern Complement Med*. 2009 Nov;15(11):1187-92. doi: 10.1089/acm.2009.0113. PMID: 19922249.
- Cahn, B. R., & Polich, J. Meditation states and traits: EEG, ERP, and neuroimaging studies. *Psychology of Consciousness: Theory, Research, and Practice, 2013;1*(S):48– 96. <u>https://doi.org/10.1037/2326-5523.1.S.48.</u>
- 181. Lomas T, Ivtzan I, Fu CH. A systematic review of the neurophysiology of mindfulness on EEG oscillations. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev.* 2015 Oct;57:401-10. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2015.09.018. Epub 2015 Oct 9. PMID: 26441373.
- 193.Lutz A, Greischar LL, Rawlings NB, Ricard M, Davidson RJ. Long-term meditators self-induce high-amplitude gamma synchrony during mental practice. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 2004 Nov 16;101(46):16369-73. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0407401101. Epub 2004 Nov 8. PMID: 15534199; PMCID: PMC526201.
- 194.Saban KL, Collins EG, Mathews HL et al. Impact of a Mindfulness-Based Stress Reduction Program on Psychological Well-Being, Cortisol, and Inflammation in Women Veterans. *J Gen Intern Med.* 2022;37(Suppl 3): 751-761. doi: 10.1007/s11606-022-07584-4. Epub 2022 Aug 30. PMID: 36042095; PMCID: PMC9481828.
- 195.Datta K, Tripathi M, Verma M et al. Yoga nidra practice shows improvement in sleep in patients with chronic insomnia: A randomized controlled trial. *Natl Med J India*. 2021;34(3):143-150. doi: 10.25259/NMJI_63_19. PMID: 34825538.

- 196.Cahn BR, Goodman MS, Peterson CT et al. Yoga, Meditation and Mind-Body Health: Increased BDNF, Cortisol Awakening Response, and Altered Inflammatory Marker Expression after a 3-Month Yoga and Meditation Retreat. *Front Hum Neurosci.* 2017; Jun 26;11:315. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2017.00315. Erratum in: Front Hum Neurosci. 2022; Apr 08;16:868021. PMID: 28694775; PMCID: PMC5483482.
- 197.Lindsay EK, Creswell JD, Stern HJ, Greco CM, Walko TD, Dutcher JM, Wright AGC, Brown KW, Marsland AL. Mindfulness-based stress reduction increases stimulated IL-6 production among lonely older adults: A randomized controlled trial. *Brain Behav Immun*. 2022 May 10;104:6-15. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2022.05.001. Epub ahead of print. PMID: 35550854; PMCID: PMC9646928.
- 200.Jemmott JB 3rd, Hellman C, McClelland DC, Locke SE, Kraus L, Williams RM, Valeri CR. Motivational syndromes associated with natural killer cell activity. *J Behav Med.* 1990
 Feb;13(1):53-73. doi: 10.1007/BF00844899. PMID: 2348449.
- 201.David C. McClelland, Carol Kirshnit. The effect of motivational arousal through films on salivary immunoglobulin A. *Psychology & Health*. 1988;2(1):31-52, DOI: <u>10.1080/08870448808400343.</u>
- 202.Staub E, Tursky B, Schwartz GE. Self-control and predictability: their effects on reactions to aversive stimulation. *J Pers Soc Psychol.* 1971 May;18(2):157-62. doi: 10.1037/h0030851.
 PMID: 5578258.
- 203.Schwartz GE. Cardiac responses to self-induced thoughts. *Psychophysiology*. 1971 Jul;8(4):462-7. doi: 10.1111/j.1469-8986.1971.tb00478.x. PMID: 5094929.
- 206.Batson CD, Lishner DA, Stocks EL. The Oxford Handbook of Prosocial Behavior. In: Schroeder D. A, Graziano W. G, editors. The Oxford Handbook. Oxford, UK: Oxford University Press; 2015. pp. 259–268.
- 207.Rasmussen KR, Stackhouse M, Boon SD, Comstock K, Ross R. Meta-analytic connections between forgiveness and health: the moderating effects of forgiveness-related distinctions. *Psychol Health.* 2019 May;34(5):515-534. doi: 10.1080/08870446.2018.1545906. Epub 2019 Jan 11. PMID: 30632797.
- 208.Reblin M, Uchino BN. Social and emotional support and its implication for health. *Curr Opin Psychiatry*. 2008 Mar;21(2):201-5. doi: 10.1097/YCO.0b013e3282f3ad89. PMID: 18332671;
 PMCID: PMC2729718.
- 209.Porges SW. Polyvagal Theory: A Science of Safety. *Front Integr Neurosci*. 2022 May 10;16:871227. doi: 10.3389/fnint.2022.871227. PMID: 35645742; PMCID: PMC9131189.
- 210.Cole SW. The Conserved Transcriptional Response to Adversity. *Curr Opin Behav Sci.* 2019 Aug;28:31-37. doi: 10.1016/j.cobeha.2019.01.008. Epub 2019 Feb 25. PMID: 31592179; PMCID: PMC6779418.

- 211.Mendioroz M, Puebla-Guedea M, Montero-Marín J, Urdánoz-Casado A, Blanco-Luquin I, Roldán M, Labarga A, García-Campayo J. Telomere length correlates with subtelomeric DNA methylation in long-term mindfulness practitioners. *Sci Rep.* 2020 Mar 12;10(1):4564. doi: 10.1038/s41598-020-61241-6. PMID: 32165663; PMCID: PMC7067861.
- 212.Jacobs TL, Epel ES, Lin J, Blackburn EH, Wolkowitz OM, Bridwell DA, Zanesco AP, Aichele SR, Sahdra BK, MacLean KA, King BG, Shaver PR, Rosenberg EL, Ferrer E, Wallace BA, Saron CD. Intensive meditation training, immune cell telomerase activity, and psychological mediators. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*. 2011 Jun;36(5):664-81. doi: 10.1016/j.psyneuen.2010.09.010. Epub 2010 Oct 29. PMID: 21035949.
- 213.Jarego M, Ferreira-Valente A, Queiroz-Garcia I, Day MA, Pais-Ribeiro J, Costa RM, Pimenta F, Jensen MP. Are Prayer-Based Interventions Effective Pain Management Options? A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis of Randomized Controlled Trials. *J Relig Health*. 2022 Dec 3. doi: 10.1007/s10943-022-01709-z.
- 214.Ferreira-Valente A, Jarego M, Queiroz-Garcia I, Pimenta F, Costa RM, Day MA, Pais-Ribeiro J, Jensen MP. Prayer as a pain intervention: protocol of a systematic review of randomised controlled trials. *BMJ Open*. 2021 Jul 5;11(7):e047580. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2020-047580.
 PMID: 34226225; PMCID: PMC8258549.
- 215. Mihalache, AS. Die Wissenschaft über das Innenleben und die Selbstquantifizierung (Știința interiorității și cuantificarea eului). *International Journal of Orthodox Theology*. 2023;16(3):20-55.

Surse web:

[i] Date disponibile online în Pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov, https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/?term=prayer&timeline=expanded.

LIST OF SCIENTIFIC WORKS

Scientific articles with a medical approach, in BDI publications

Mihalache, AS; Zăgrean, A-M; Bălan, DG; Stoleriu, I; şi Zăgrean, L. Possible physiological changes induced by the practice of prayer in the christian-orthodox tradition. *Physiology* (BDI). 2023;104(1): 28-46;

http://revista_fiziologia.umft.ro/archives/fiziologia_nr%201(104)_2023.pdf;

- (2) Mihalache AS, Zăgrean L. Compassion vs. empathy. Necessary distinctions in approaching medical care, *Romanian Medical Journal* (BDI), vol. LXVIII, Issue 3, September 2021, 354-367. DOI: <u>10.37897/RMJ.2021.3.5</u>;
- (3) Mihalache, AS; Zăgrean, L; Free will an approach from the perspective of neuroscience, *Romanian Journal of Medical Practice* (BDI), vol. XVI, nr. 3 (80), 2021, 327-332. DOI: <u>10.37897/RJMP.2021.3.6;</u>
- (4) Mihalache, AS; How do We Live and what is the World We Live in Like? Some Possible Neuroscientific Evaluations on the Anthropology of the Spiritual Life in the Context of the Contemporary Society, Global Journal of Anthropology Research (BDI), 2017, vol. 4, Issue 2, pp. 55-65. DOI: <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.15379/2410-2806.2017.04.02.04</u>.

Studies and Chapters with an interdisciplinary approach in BDI journals and collective volumes

- Mihalache, AS; Die Wissenschaft über das Innenleben und die Selbstquantifizierung (Ştiinţa interiorităţii şi cuantificarea eului), International Journal of Orthodox Theology (BDI), 2023, vol. 16, Issue 3, pp. 20-55;
- (2) Mihalache, AS; Die Revolution (Mc)Mindfulness: Einige Betrachtungen aus der Perspektive der christlichen Spiritualität (*Revoluția* (*Mc*)*mindfulness*: câteva considerații din perspectiva spiritualității creștine), *International Journal of Orthodox Theology* (BDI), vol. 12, Issue 1, 2021, pp. 25-51;

https://www.orthodox-theology.com/media/PDF/1.2021/AdrianMihalache.pdf;

- (3) Mihalache, AS; Medicine and Christian spirituality, *The Relationship Between Theology*, *Philosophy and Science an Eastern Christian Perspective*, Basilica, 2021, pp. 344-364;
- (4) Mihalache, AS; Some challenges for the spiritual life in today's world setting. A reading at the frontier between neuroscience and the philolocal experience of Eastern Christianity, in vol. *Antropologie şi Spiritualitate*, Romanian Academy, 2016, pp. 91-114;
- (5) Mihalache, AS; The Experience of Compassion Possible Long-term Changes in Cortex Areas. A Few Recent FindinGS in the Field of Neurosciences, Cognitive Sciences – An Interdisciplinary Approach, Tudorel Dima and Mihaela Luca (editors), Prouniversitaria, Bucharest, 2015, pp. 211-227. (A summary of this article was the subject of a scientific communication with the same title held on 29th of October, 2015, at The 6th conference of the

National Neuroscience Society of Romania, SNN2015, "Neuroplasticity in health and disease", UMFCD, Bucureşti, 29-31 Octombrie, 2015 (<u>https://snn2015.snn.ro/</u>).

Scientific communications

- Mihalache, AS; The neurosciences of spiritual life. On evaluating the therapeutic potential of spiritual experiences and their relevance in today's society, presented at Romanian Academy, National Center for Brain research, 28th September 2022 Bucharest. (https://www.researchgate.net/publication/369541593_Neurostiintele_vietii_spiritualeDespre_ev aluarea_potentialului_terapeutic_al_experientelor_spirituale_si_relevanta_lor_in_societatea_actu ală);
- (2) Mihalache AS; Cultivating character in medical care. Recent neuroscience results relevant to the integrative approach to medical practice, presented on 18th march 2021, at National Authority for Quality Management in Health (ANMCS), DOI: <u>10.13140/RG.2.2.28498.48328</u>. <u>https://www.youtube.com/watch?v= AmkK2kMKlc;</u>
- (3) Mihalache AS; Neurosciences of Spiritual Life. Some results regarding the effect of meditation and compassion on emotional disposition and on health, presented on International Cognitive Sciences Summer School – Romanian Academy, Branch of Iasi, scholarship in the project "Innovation and development in the structuring and representation of knowledge through doctoral and postdoctoral scholarships" (IDSRC – doc postdoc, POSDRU/159/1.5/S/133675). (<u>https://acadiasi.org/proiecte/inovare-si-dezvoltare-in-structurarea-si-reprezentarea-cunoasteriiprin-burse-doctorale-si-postdoctorale/);</u>
- (4) Mihalache AS; Neuroscience of Spiritual Life. Recent research topics and their relevance to improve the quality of life", presented on *International Conference of the Romanian Neuroscience Society*, Bucharest, 7th Edition, 2016, <u>http://snn2016.snn.ro/program/index.html</u>; (<u>https://www.researchgate.net/publication/369541816_Neurosciences_of_Spiritual_Life_Some_r</u> <u>esults_regarding_the_effect_of_meditation_and_compassion_on_emotional_disposition_and_on_health</u>)
- (5) Mihalache AS; Contemplation: A comprehensive view of the world on the heights of the spiritual life. Neuroscientific and phylolocal perspectives, presented on 14th March 2014, at *Brain Awarnes Week* "Brain for Society", 10th 14th 2014, UMFCD, Bucharest. (https://www.academia.edu/99507485/Contemplatia_BAW_2014).